IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

DERRICK POOLE,

Appellant,

 \mathbf{v}

NEVADA AUTO DEALERSHIP INVESTMENTS LLC a Nevada Limited Liability Company d/b/a SAHARA CHRYSLER, JEEP, DODGE, and COREPOINTE INSURANCE COMPANY, Supreme Court C. Electronigally Filed Jun 13 2018 08:11 a.m. District Court Case Flizabeth A. Brown A-16-737120-C

Respondents,

Appeal from the Eighth Judicial District Court, Clark County.

The Honorable Nancy Alff, District Court Judge

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Law Offices of George O. West III

Consumer Attorneys Against Auto Fraud
George O. West III Esq, State Bar No. 7951
10161 Park Run Drive, Suite 150
Las Vegas, NV 89145
Telephone: (702) 318-6570

JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is a civil appeal from the final order pursuant to NRAP 3(A)(b)(1). The Trial Court granted summary judgment pursuant to NRCP Rule 56 in favor of all remaining Defendants. The remaining Defendants, who are the only Respondents on this appeal, are NEVADA AUTO DEALERSHIP INVESTMENTS LLC ("SAHARA") and COREPOINT INSURANCE COMPANY ("COREPOINT") (hereinafter collectively referred to herein as "Defendants"). The entry of the order on Defendants' motion for summary judgment ("MSJ"), filed on December 8, 2017, (Vol. 4, Appx. 849), disposed of all claims for relief alleged against both SAHARA and COREPOINT, leaving the Court with no other duties other than to enter final judgment in favor of all remaining Defendants. Final judgment was entered on March 28, 2018, after disposition of SAHARA's motion for attorney's fees, postdismissal. Vol. 7, Appx. 1406-1409. 1

Defendant WELLS FARGO DEALER SERVICES INC is not a party to this appeal as it was voluntarily dismissed from the action at the trial level via a stipulation and order.

ROUTING STATEMENT

Pursuant to NRAP 17(b)(2) this is a civil appeal involving a monetary judgment of less than \$250,000.00, exclusive of fees and costs and interest. Based on NRAP 17(b)(2), this matter presumptively within the purview of the Court of Appeals.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Did the passage of NRS 598.0923(2), which is part of the *Nevada Deceptive Trade Practices Act*, ("NDTPA"), statutorily modify and/or statutorily abrogate some of the common law requirements of a claim predicated upon misrepresentation by omission and/or non-disclosure? ²
- 2. Were there genuine issues of material fact with respect to POOLE's statutory claim for consumer fraud pursuant to NRS 41.600(2)(e), and the concomitant violations of the NDTPA codified within Chapter 598 of the NRS, with respect to SAHARA:
 - A. **Failing to disclose a material fact** in connection with the sale of goods. [NRS 598.0923(2) and NRS 41.600(2)(e)]
 - B. Making any *other false representation* in a transaction. [NRS 598.0915(15) and NRS 41.600(2)(e)]

xii

² See Appellant's Motion to Take Judicial Notice regarding Legislative History filed concurrently with this opening brief.

- C. Representing that goods for sale are of a particular standard, quality or grade *if he knows or should know that they are of another standard, quality, grade*, style or model. [NRS 598.0915(7) and NRS 41.600(2)(e)]
- D. Making a *false representation* as to the source, sponsorship, approval *or certification* of goods for sale. [NRS 598.0915(2) and NRS 41.600(e)]
- E. **Violating a federal or state statute or regulation** relating to the sale of goods. [NRS 598.0923(3) and NRS 41.600(2)(e)]
- 3. Did the Court err in deciding the issue of "materiality" under NRS 598.0923(2), as a matter of law, with respect to what would be considered a "material" (important) fact to a reasonable consumer within the community in making a decision to purchase a Dodge Certified Pre-Owned ("CPO") vehicle?
- 4. If there were genuine issues of material fact with respect to POOLE's statutory consumer fraud claim under NRS 41.600(2)(e) based on violations of the NDTPA, concomitantly, were there also remaining genuine issues of material fact with respect to POOLE's equitable claims for relief which were expressly and statutorily authorized pursuant to NRS 41.600(3)(b), in addition to POOLE's claim for declaratory relief with respect to the validity of the installment contract involving the vehicle under NRS 30.040?

5. If there were genuine issues of material fact with respect to POOLE's statutory consumer fraud claim under NRS 41.600(2)(e) based on violations of the NDTPA, concomitantly, did Plaintiff also have a statutory claim against Defendant COREPOINT, (the bond company), *as direct party Defendant* pursuant to the provisions of NRS 482.345(5) to (7)? ³

This issue was *directly raised* and fully briefed by all parties. Both SAHARA and COREPOINT contended that NRS 482.345(7) does *not* create a statutory claim for relief to allow a NRS 41.600 consumer fraud claimant to seek compensation from the bond via an action filed in court. [con't]

Not only is this a **pure issue of law** involving statutory interpretation, but the issue entirely ripe and germane for review. If not adjudicated and directly addressed in this appeal, this pure issue of law will surely be raised again should this matter be remanded for a jury trial. **Consequently, this Court should also dispose of this significant issue of law in the instant appeal.**

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This action is based on Nevada's Consumer Fraud statute (NRS 41.600) involving the financed retail sale of a used 2013 Dodge "Certified Pre Owned" ("CPO) Ram 1500 Bighorn pick-up truck ("subject vehicle" or "CPO vehicle") by Defendant SAHARA.

This is an appeal from the final judgment granting Defendants SAHARA's and COREPOINT's MSJ. *Order on MSJ*, *Vol. 4*, *Appx. 845-847*. The entry of the order granting summary judgment dismissed all remaining Defendants, disposed of all claims for relief and left the Court with no other duties other than to enter final judgment in favor of Defendants. *Not. of Entry, Vol. 4*, *Appx. 849*. Judgment was entered on March 28, 2018 after the notice of entry was filed on Defendants' Motion for Attorney's fees and Plaintiff's Motion to Retax Costs. *Judgment, Vol. 7*, *Appx. 1406-1409*.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review on orders granting summary judgment pursuant to Rule 56 is *de novo* to determine whether the evidence properly before the district court "demonstrate[s] that no 'genuine issue as to any material fact [remains] and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law.'" *Wood v. Safeway, Inc.*, 121 Nev. 724, 729, 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (2005). If the standard of review is *de novo*, this Court's review is done

without deference to the lower court's findings. *Caughlin Ranch Homeowners Ass'n v. Caughlin Club*, 109 Nev. 264, 266, 849 P.2d 310, 311 (1993).

The standard of review regarding questions of statutory construction and interpretation is *de novo*. *PERS v. Reno Newspapers Inc.*, 129 Nev. 833, 836, 313 P.3d 221, 223 (2014). In addition, statutes or Acts with a protective and/or remedial purpose, which would include NRS 41.600, NDTPA and NRS 482.345, should be *liberally construed* in order to effectuate the protections and benefits intended to be obtained under their provisions. See *State Dep't of Bus. & Indus.*, *Fin. Institutions Div. v. Dollar Loan Ctr.*, *LLC*, 134 Nev. Adv. Op. 15, 412 P.3d 30, 33 (2018).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On March 26, 2014, the vehicle at issue was involved in a collision. Sep. Stmt. # 6; Appx. 312; Def's Resp. to RFA # 9, Vol. 2, Appx. 385. It was owned by Dale Hinton at that time. Allstate Collision Estimate ("ACE"), Vol. 2, Appx. 361. Mr. Hinton's auto insurer, Allstate, prepared the ACE which detailed the repairs made on the subject vehicle. See ACE, Appx. 361-368. Approximately six weeks after the collision, and after the subject vehicle was repaired, on May 5, 2014, Mr. Hinton sold the subject vehicle to SAHARA.

Sep. Stmt. # 1; Appx: 312; Def's Resp. to RFA # 1, Vol. 2, Appx. 383; ACE, Vol. 2, Appx. 361.

SAHARA's director of used car sales, Joshua Grant, personally handled the purchase transaction with Mr. Hinton on behalf of SAHARA. *Sep. Stmt.* # 2 and 10; Vol. 2, Appx. 312 and 313; Depo. of Grant, Vol. 2, Appx. 416. As the director of SAHARA's used car sales department, Mr. Grant was "the" person at SAHARA who established and instituted all of SAHARA's policies and practices in SAHARA's used car department, including making the decision of whether or not to resell any given vehicle to the community with a certified pre-owned ("CPO") designation, including the subject vehicle. *Sep. Stmt. # 11, 13 and 73, Vol. 2, Appx. 313-314 and 329; Depo. of Grant, Vol. 2, Appx. 408 and 421.*

During the purchase transaction of the subject vehicle by SAHARA, Mr. Hinton informed Mr. Grant of the March 26, 2014 collision (hereinafter referred to as the "pre-purchase collision"), and also gave Mr. Grant the ACE. Sep. Stmt. # 3, Appx. 312; ACE, Appx. 361-368; Depo of Grant, Vol. 2, Appx. 416-419. Mr. Grant **thoroughly reviewed** the ACE. Sep. Stmt. # 4, Appx. 312; Depo. of Grant, Vol. 2, Appx. 420.

The ACE breaks down what was actually repaired and/or replaced on the vehicle and describes and itemizes the nature and extent of the damage to the vehicle as a result of the pre-purchase collision. *Sep. Stmt. # 7, Appx. 312; ACE, Vol. 2, Appx. 361-368; Depo of Grant, Vol. 2, Appx. 417.* More specifically, the ACE clearly reflects that the vehicle sustained **\$4,088.70** in property damage as a result of the pre-purchase collision. *Sep. Stmt. # 8, Appx. 313, ACE, Vol. 2, Appx. 361-364; Def's Resp. to RFA # 31, Vol. 2, Appx. 400.* The ACE also clearly reflects the following repairs done to the vehicle, which include, but are not limited to:

- A replaced front bumper.
- A replaced front bumper bracket.
- A replaced left front frame end bracket.
- A replaced radiator support.
- A replaced left outer and inner tie rod.
- A replaced aftermarket left stabilizer line.
- · A replaced left wheel. 4
- A repainted left front fender 5

On May 5, 2014, the day Mr. Grant, on behalf of SAHARA, purchased the subject vehicle, he also obtained a Carfax on the vehicle. *Sep. Stmt. # 77, Vol. 2, Appx. 330; Carfax, Vol. 2, Vol. 2, Appx. 373-376; Depo. of Grant, Vol.*

The particular significance of the replaced wheel that was clearly identified on the ACE will be discussed *infra* with respect to Plaintiff's statutory claim that the subject vehicle was not of CPO standard, quality or grade and that SAHARA made a false statement regarding the Dodge CPO certification.

Sep. Stmt. # 9, Appx. 313; ACE, Appx. 361-364; Def's Resp. to RFA # 17, Vol. 2, Appx. 397. This is only a partial list, the full list of replaced and/or repaired parts and the nature and extent of the previous damage is reflected on the ACE at Appx. 361-363.

2, Appx. 420. The Carfax noted the pre-purchase collision identified in the ACE. Sep. Stmt. # 77 and 78, Vol. 2, Appx. 330; Carfax, Vol. 2, Vol. 2, Appx. 375; Depo. of Grant, Vol, 2, Appx. 420; ACE, Vol. 2, Appx. 361.

Three weeks later, on May 26, 2014, Plaintiff/Appellant DERRICK POOLE ("POOLE") purchased the subject vehicle from SAHARA, which, by then, had been certified by SAHARA as a Dodge CPO vehicle. It was Joshua Grant, who made the decision to resell the vehicle to the community as a Dodge CPO vehicle. Sep. Stmt. # 73, Vol. 2, Appx. 329; Depo. of Grant, Vol. 2, Appx. 421.

Prior to signing the purchase documents, POOLE and SAHARA's salesperson, Travis Spruell, took the vehicle on a test drive. During the test drive, Mr. Spruell told POOLE that the vehicle was in a previous accident. Sep. Stmt. # 61, Vol. 2, Appx. 326; Decl. of POOLE ¶ 2, Vol 2, Appx. 282. In response, POOLE **specifically inquired** about the accident and was told by Mr. Spruell that it was only a "minor" accident, that the vehicle had been through their 125 point comprehensive inspection given to CPO vehicles, and that if the vehicle had been in a significant accident, SAHARA would not sell the vehicle to him. Sep. Stmt. # 61, Vol. 2, Appx. 326; Decl. of POOLE ¶ 2, Vol. 2, Vol. 2, Appx. 282.6

⁶ SAHARA did not submit any evidence whatsoever, such as a

SAHARA's salesperson's representation that the pre-purchase collision was only "minor" in nature and not significant allayed POOLE's concerns about the pre-purchase collision. Later in the sales process, SAHARA disclosed the same pre-purchase collision to POOLE in writing via the Carfax, which POOLE reviewed and signed, given his previous inquiry about the nature of pre-purchase collision had been answered. *Sep. Stmt. #* 59, *Vol. 2, Appx. 325; Decl. of POOLE ¶¶ 3-4, Vol. 2, Appx. 262-263; Carfax, Vol. 2, Appx. 373 and 375*.

Notwithstanding SAHARA representing the pre-purchase collision as only being a "minor" in nature and nothing significant, SAHARA *never disclosed* any of the *specific information* in the ACE which reflected the nature of, extent of, or cost of repair for the damage to POOLE's CPO vehicle as a result of the pre-purchase collision – *information SAHARA had in its actual possession at time of sale.*⁷ SAHARA's Resp. to RFA # 7, 10, and 36-38, Vol. 2, Appx. 392-393; Sep. Stmt. # 59 and 104, Vol. 2, Appx. 325 and 385; Decl. of POOLE ¶ 4, Vol. 2, Appx. 283.

declaration from Mr. Spruell, to dispute POOLE's version of events involving his specific inquiry about the nature of the accident after he was first informed of it orally by Mr. Spruell. *Defs' MSJ*, *Vol. 1. Appx. 048-225*

This was **undisputed** by SAHARA because it was admitted by SAHARA via POOLE's requests for admissions. SAHARA's Resp. to RFA # 7, 10, and 36-38, Vol. 2, Appx. 392-393

However, perhaps most compelling is the fact that SAHARA's own employees, the finance & insurance ("F&I") manager, Noah Grant, and the salesperson, Mr. Spruell, both of whom were *directly involved* in the sale of the CPO vehicle to POOLE, would have disclosed to POOLE the particular information reflected in the ACE had they been personally aware of the ACE's existence at the time of sale. Sep. Stmt. # 42-46, 54-56, Vol. 2, Appx. 321-322 and 324-325; Depo of Grant, Vol. 2, Appx. 432-434; Depo of Spruell, Vol. 2, Appx. 447-449. 8 These SAHARA employees would have disclosed to POOLE the specific information reflected in the ACE at time of sale because **they believed** the information in the ACE **would** have been important to disclose to any consumer within the community who was deciding on whether to purchase a Dodge CPO vehicle from SAHARA. Sep. Stmt. # 42-46, 54-56, Vol. 2, Appx. 321-322 and 324-325; Depo of Grant, Vol. 2, Appx. 433-434; Depo of Spruell, Vol. 2, Appx. 447-449.

These same SAHARA employees were testifying as to their professional experience with and being personally involved in selling *hundreds of CPO vehicles* to other consumers within the community, and also received training involving the Dodge CPO program. *Sep. Stmt. # 36, 56, Vol. 2, Appx. 320 and 324; Depo. of Grant, Vol. 2, Appx. 431; Depo. of Spruell, Vol. 2, Appx. 447-448.*

That same information reflected in the ACE also **would have been important to POOLE** in making his decision on whether or not to purchase the CPO vehicle from SAHARA. *Sep. Stmt. #64-66 and 107, Appx.* 327 and 336; Decl. of POOLE ¶¶ 1-6, Vol 2, Appx. 282-284.

POOLE sustained monetary loss and/or damages and SAHARA was unjustly enriched as a result of SAHARA's deceptive trade practices. *Sep. Stmt. # 105, Vol. 2, Appx. 336; Decl. of Avillini ¶¶ 21-31, Vol. 2, Appx. 296-302.*

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

A. SAHARA failed to disclose a material fact in a transaction in connection with the sale of goods. (NRS 598.0923(2)).

NRS 598.0923(2) required SAHARA to disclose *all* material facts known to SAHARA relating to the purchase of his CPO vehicle, which would have statutorily included the specific information regarding the nature and extent of the damage caused to the vehicle by the pre-purchase collision – information that SAHARA had *actual knowledge* and of which was in their *exclusive possession* at the time of sale.

As a threshold matter, because NRS 41.600 and the NDTPA are consumer protection statutes, they are *remedial in nature*, and their provisions are to *liberally construed*. Furthermore, statutory consumer

fraud/deceptive trade practices are **separate and distinct claims** from those based on common law fraud. They are pure creatures of statute and are not merely "codifications" of common law fraud.

In fact, some of the NDTPA's provisions, such as NRS 598.0923(2) which is at issue in this appeal, fundamentally changed existing common law by *statutorily abrogating* some of the common law elements that were required to be shown before a valid claim based upon misrepresentation *by omission* could lie. NRS 598.0923(2) changed the entire landscape involving a claim based upon misrepresentation by omission in connection with the sale of goods by a person (i.e. a "merchant"), who sells goods to the community *in the course of their business or occupation*.

Because the provisions of the NDTPA are to be liberally construed, the Court erred by narrowly construing the scope of the affirmative statutory disclosure obligations under NRS 598.0923(2) with respect to SAHARA's sale of a Dodge CPO vehicle that was involved in a pre-purchase collision. The Court found that the "only" material fact SAHARA was under an obligation to disclose under NRS 598.0923(2) relating to the pre-purchase collision, was the pre-purchase collision itself. The Court ruled that SAHARA had no statutory duty whatsoever under NRS 598.0923(2) to disclose any of the material information reflected in the ACE relating to the

nature and extent of that pre-purchase collision, *even though SAHARA*had this information in their actual knowledge and possession.

Order on MSJ, Vol. 4, Vol. 4, Appx. 846: 21-22.

In essence, by making this ruling, the Court disregarded or overlooked the declaration of POOLE, as well as the deposition testimony of SAHARA's own employees offered in opposition to Defendants' MSJ. The Court ruled, as a matter of law, that the information reflected in the ACE relating to the nature and extent of the damage caused by the pre-purchase collision would **not** be encompassed within the disclosure requirements of NRS 598.0923(2). By making this ruling the Court also had to have found, by extension, that the particular information reflected in the ACE would not have been "material" to a reasonable consumer within the community in making their decision to buy a Dodge CPO vehicle. This is because if there were genuine issues of fact that the information in the ACE was "material" to a purchaser in a Dodge CPO sale transaction, then the Court was compelled to deny Defendants' MSJ.

A "material" fact is a fact that a reasonable person would attach importance to with respect to the transaction at issue. Generally, the materiality of a fact, meaning its importance in any given sales transaction, is a question of fact for the jury to determine. The Court's ruling, as

a matter of law, as to what would be considered a "material" fact under NRS 598.0923(2) was in error.

B. SAHARA made a false representation in a transaction. (NRS 598.0915(15))

In granting Defendants' MSJ, the Court found that there "was no indication in the record that Plaintiff inquired about the parts and services used to repair the vehicle as provided in the ACE, and such information was then withheld." Order on MSJ, Vol. 4, Appx. 846: 24-26. However, this finding is not only in *direct contravention* of undisputed fact number 61 in POOLE's separate statement, and paragraph 2 of his declaration filed in opposition to Defendants' MSJ, but the Court's finding also contradicts SAHARA's affirmative statutory duty to POOLE, as a buyer, to disclose all material facts known to SAHARA involving the prepurchase collision. NRS 598.0923(2); Sep. Stmt # 61, Vol. 2, Appx. 326; Decl. of POOLE ¶¶ 1-2, Vol 2, Appx. 282-283. POOLE did in fact made an affirmative inquiry about the pre-purchase collision and was then affirmatively mislead by SAHARA about the nature and extent of the very accident he inquired about after initially being told about it on the test drive.

Furthermore, whether SAHARA's representation to POOLE was "false" with respect to the pre-purchase accident as only being "minor" in

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