ARGUMENT 
 
I. The only document this Court needs to review in 

determining if there were triable issues involving POOLE’s 
statutory claims for deceptive trade practices is POOLE’s 
separate statement of undisputed material facts in 
opposition to SAHARA’s MSJ 

 
SAHARA’s contentions in their Answering brief are stupefying.   It 

would appear that SAHARA is not reading the same opening brief or 

appendix that was filed with this Court.  This is because even a cursory 

examination of POOLE’s separate statement in opposition to SAHARA’s 

MSJ, categorically belies SAHARA’S contentions.    Sept. Stmt., Appx., Vol.  

2: 311-338.   

First, SAHARA contends “… Poole failed to submit actual evidence 

that any of the details or information included within the [Allstate Collision 

Estimate] (“ACE”) are material to the purchase of the [CPO] vehicle.”   AB:10. 

See ACE at Appx., Vol. 2-3: 361-368.   This contention is farcical given the 

undisputed material facts contained in POOLE’s separate statement, all of 

which were supported by admissible evidence.  Sept. Stmt., Appx., Vol  2: 

311-338.  POOLE’s declaration in support of his opposition to SAHARA’s 

MSJ, in and of itself, was more than sufficient to establish triable issues 

that the information reflected within the ACE would have been important 

(material) in making a decision not to purchase the CPO vehicle from 
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SAHARA.   Sep. Stmt. # 64-66, Appx., Vol. 2: 282-285, and Decl. of POOLE 

¶¶ 5-6, Appx., Vol. 2: 282-284. 1 

Indeed, two material facts in this case that are unequivocally 

undisputed on both sides are: (1) that the ACE was in SAHARA’s possession 

at time of sale, and (2), that the ACE was never disclosed to POOLE.   Sep. 

Stmt. # 59-63 and 104, Appx., Vol. 2: 325-327 and 336. 2  The operative 

issue is whether the information reflected in the ACE was “material.”  If it 

was, the ACE was required to be disclosed to POOLE. 

In addition to POOLE’s declaration, and as copiously laid out in Sep. 

Stmt.#34-58, Appx., Vol. 2: 320-325, SAHARA’s sales person (Mr. Spruell), 

                                                
1  SAHARA repeats, ad nauseam, that POOLE’s declaration was “self- 
serving” and contends, at least impliedly, that it should have been 
disregarded as actual or admissible evidence.  This argument has no merit.  
If an affidavit otherwise qualifies, meaning it is made by a person with 
personal knowledge and has factual statements or a factual basis for those 
statements, it must be considered on MSJ, because the “self-serving” nature 
of such an affidavit only bears on credibility, and not on admissibility.  
S.E.C. v. Phan, 500 F. 3d 895, 909 (9th Cir. 2007) 
 A MSJ has nothing to do with either the weight or the credibility of the 
evidence, only whether the evidence demonstrates that a factual dispute 
exists for a jury to resolve.  See Borgerson v. Scanlon, 117 Nev. 216, 220, 19 
P.3d 236, 238 (2001) [holding “a district court cannot make findings 
concerning the credibility of witnesses or weight of evidence in order to 
resolve a motion for summary judgment”]; see also Banks v. Sunrise 
Hospital 120 Nev. 822, 839, 102 P.3d 52, 64 (2004) [same]. 

  
2  These undisputed/admitted facts were conclusively established 
via SAHARA’s responses to POOLE’s requests for admissions, and 
therefore they were not and cannot be disputed. 
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and the finance and insurance manager, (Mr. Noah Grant),3  both testified 

very clearly to the following:  

Mr. Grant: 

• Because it is important to disclose to the consumer a vehicle’s accident 
history, it would be equally important to disclose to the 
consumer the nature and extent of that accident, if the 
dealership knew the nature and extent of the previous 
accident.  Sep. Stmt. # 42 and 46, Appx. 321-322; Depo of Grant: 
Appx., Vol. 2: 432 and 434. 

 
• That if the actual nature and extent of an accident was known to the 

dealer, meaning the dealer knew what parts were replaced 
and repaired and the amount of previous accident damage, 
those facts would be important to disclose to a consumer 
who is buying a CPO Dodge.  Sep. Stmt. # 43, Appx., Vol. 2: 321; 
Depo of Grant; Appx., Vol. 2, 433-434. 

 
• That he would have disclosed that the CPO vehicle POOLE was 

purchasing had $4,088.70 in damage to it based upon the pre-
purchase collision, if he had knowledge of such a fact.  Sep. Stmt. # 44, 
Appx. 321; Depo of Grant, Appx., Vol. 2: 433-434. 

 
Mr. Spruell: 

 
• Because it is important to be truthful honest and accurate with the 

consumer, it would be equally important to disclose to the 
consumer the nature and extent of that accident, if the 
dealership knew the nature and extent of the previous 
accident.  Sep. Stmt. # 53, Vol. 2, Appx., 324; Depo of Spruell, Appx., 
Vol. 2:445 

                                                
3  Both were directly involved in the sale of POOLE’s CPO vehicle and had 
training in CPO sales and extensive professional experience in actually 
selling hundreds of CPO vehicles to the community, (Sep. Stmt. # 36-38, 
52 and 54; Appx., Vol. 2: 320 and 324). 
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• That he would have disclosed to POOLE that the vehicle had 
$4,088.70 in damage caused to it by the pre-purchase collision, if he 
had knowledge of such a fact.  Sep. Stmt. # 54-56, Vol. 2, Appx., 324-
325; Depo of Spruell, Appx., Vol. 2: 447-449 

 
• Had the ACE been in the used car deal file involving POOLE’s CPO 

vehicle, Mr. Spruell would have shown the ACE to POOLE to 
ensure the nature and extent of the previous accident was disclosed to 
him and to ensure Spruell was truthful, honest and accurate with 
respect to what POOLE was buying.   Sep. Stmt. # 57-58, Appx., Vol. 2: 
325.  
 
Furthermore, Joshua Grant (SAHARA’s 30(b)(6) representative on 

Dodge CPO sales and SAHARA’s director of used car sales at the time of 

POOLE’s CPO vehicle purchase, and who had previously sold thousands of 

CPO Dodge vehicles to the community),4   testified: 

• That it is important for SAHARA to make full disclosure to a used 
car buyer involving things that might affect a vehicle’s value, 
safety, desirability or marketability, because SAHARA “prefers 
to be upfront and honest as possible, legally ethically and morally.”  
Sep. Stmt. # 32 and 33, Vol. 2, Appx. 319; Depo of Grant, Appx., Vol. 
2: 413 and 425.  

 
• That SAHARA has vastly superior knowledge about the condition 

of a CPO vehicle as opposed to that of the consumer at time of sale.   
Sep. Stmt. # 29, Appx., Vol. 2: 318 

 
• That to help ensure a buyer within the community can make an 

informed choice and educated decision, it is important for 
SAHARA to be completely truthful, honest and accurate and make 
full disclosure to the car buyer who is thinking of purchasing a 
CPO vehicle.  Sep. Stmt. # 31, Appx., Vol. 2: 319 

                                                
4  See Sep. Stmt. # 10, 18, 19; Appx., Vol. 2: 313, 315. 
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Yet, despite these admissions by SAHARA’s own managers and sales 

staff of how important disclosure of the contents of the ACE would be to a 

potential buyer of that CPO vehicle, the trial court ruled that the information 

reflected in the ACE would not have been material (important) to a 

reasonable consumer within the community who was going to purchase a 

Dodge CPO vehicle from SAHARA.5   What the trial court lost sight of was 

the fact that consumers generally do not review the information in a collision 

damage estimate entirely in isolation, but rather, they look at is “as a whole” 

and “in the aggregate,” and that is what makes the ACE “material.”  See 

section II infra. 

Notwithstanding, SAHARA attempts to “explain away” the testimony 

of Mr. Spruell and Mr. Grant relating to the necessity and the importance of 

SAHARA disclosing the information reflected in the ACE to any prospective 

CPO buyer, including POOLE.   SAHARA contends that the aforementioned 

testimony was:  (1) based on a “hypothetical scenario,” (2) was based on 

                                                
5  In its MSJ order, (Appx. Vol. 5: 846: 20-24),  the trial court adopted 
SAHARA’s argument that the only “material” fact involving the pre-
purchase collision was the collision itself.  Nothing more, irrespective 
of what SAHARA actually knew vis-à-vis the ACE.   Taking away the 
issue from the jury with respect to whether the information reflected in the 
ACE was “material” was in error.  In making this ruling, the trial court had 
to have either overlooked or disregarded the deposition testimony of 
SAHARA’s own employees involving the necessity and importance of 
disclosing the ACE to POOLE and how important the ACE would have been 
to POOLE in making the decision of whether or not to purchase a CPO vehicle 
from SAHARA.    
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“conjecture and speculation,” and (3), was “… neither actual evidence nor 

relevant to the actual facts of the case…”  AB:18.    

Mr. Spruell’s and Mr. Grant’s deposition testimony was not based upon 

conjecture or speculation.  Rather, their testimony regarding what would 

have been important to a consumer purchasing a Dodge CPO was based 

upon their own personal knowledge via their training and 

extensive experience in actually selling hundreds of CPO vehicles to the 

community.  Sep. Stmt. #37-40,42-43, 46, 54-56, Appx., Vol. 2: 321-322, 

324-325.    

Nor was their testimony based on a “hypothetical.”   Rather, their 

testimony was based on the actual information in the ACE that specifically 

related to the particular pre-purchase collision in which Mr. POOLE’s CPO 

vehicle was involved.  Sep. Stmt. #44-45, 55-58, Appx., Vol. 2: 322 and 324-

325.     

Finally, SAHARA contends that the sworn deposition testimony of Mr. 

Spruell and Mr. Grant (supra), is not “actual evidence” and was “not relevant 

to the facts of the case…”   This contention is utterly mystifying given that 

deposition testimony is “actual evidence” for purposes of a MSJ (see NRCP 

56(c)), and a principle gravamen in this case involves SAHARA’s failure to 

disclose a “material” fact in a transaction involving the sale of goods.   

Second, SAHARA contends that “except for” Plaintiff’s retained 

expert declaration “… Poole has failed to provide any actual evidence that 
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the vehicle should not have been a CPO and was improperly certified at time 

of its inspection,” and that “… no evidence exists in this matter that 

establishes that the standard quality or grade of the vehicle was anything 

other than that of a CPO …” AB:30 and 35.  SAHARA’s contention is 

befuddling.   SAHARA states unremittingly (in hope that repetition will mask 

the lack of merit of its argument), that POOLE’s vehicle “passed” SAHARA’s 

CPO inspection, as evidenced by SAHARA’s “passing” CPO inspection check 

list, and therefore that is end of the inquiry.  CPO inspection report; Appx., 

Vol. 2: 370-371,  

However, as meticulously set forth in POOLE’s separate statement in 

opposition to Defendants’ MSJ, (fact # 92-104, Appx., Vol. 2; 333-336), 

POOLE credibly challenged and got beyond the “the four corners” of 

SAHARA’s purportedly “passing” CPO inspection check list via POOLES’s 

retained expert.  POOLE demonstrated the existence of genuine issues of 

material fact as to why the vehicle was not of CPO standard, quality or grade, 

and that SAHARA made a false representation as to the vehicle being  Dodge 

CPO certified.  Sep. Stmt. # 100-103, Appx., 335; Decl. of Avillini ¶¶ 14-20, 

Appx., Vol. 2: 292-296.     

To support SAHARA’s nugatory contention, it regurgitates the same 

arguments that were previously raised and rejected by the trial court in 

denying SAHARA’s motion to strike POOLE’s expert declaration submitted 

in support of POOLE’s opposition to SAHARA’s MSJ.  See Appx., Vol. 4, 
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866-868, order denying SAHARA’s motion, and Appx., Vol. 5, 1055: 16-

21, transcript of hearings.   This issue is not addressable in the instant 

appeal because SAHARA never filed a cross-appeal challenging the trial 

court’s denial of SAHARA’s motion and assigning it as error.  Sierra Creek 

Ranch, Inc. v. J.I. Case, 97 Nev. 457, 460, 634 P. 2d 458, 460 (1981) [failure 

to file a cross-appeal will result in the appellate court lacking jurisdiction 

over an issue or contention advanced by respondent to challenge appealed-

from order].   

SAHARA is entirely foreclosed in the instant appeal from raising 

any issues that POOLE’s expert declaration was not admissible, or that it 

lacked the requisite foundation and/or that it should not have been 

considered by the trial court as being “self-serving,” because the Court ruled 

that it was in fact admissible because the Court denied SAHARA’s motion to 

strike it. 6  

                                                
6  Indeed, that the trial court was required to consider POOLE’s expert 
declaration in opposition to SAHARA’s MSJ  provides the basis for one of the 
errors assigned by POOLE in the instant appeal with respect to the Court 
dismissing POOLE’s statutory claims for: 
 

Representing that goods for sale are of a particular standard, quality 
or grade if he knows or should know that they are of another 
standard, quality, grade, style or model, and; 
 
Making a false representation as to the source, sponsorship, approval 
or certification of goods for sale.  
 

See issue 2(C) and (D) under POOLE’s issues for review in his  opening brief.   
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Notwithstanding Sierra Creek, id, SAHARA circuitously attempts to 

resurrect an issue it is foreclosed from arguing on appeal, by falsely 

stating “the motion to strike was deemed moot after the grant of summary 

judgment.”  AB:8, fn.5.  This is demonstrably false.  SAHARA’s motion 

to strike was denied.  It was not deemed or rendered “moot” in any way, 

and to suggest or state otherwise misrepresents the Court’s Order.   See 

Appx., Vol. 4, 866-868, order denying SAHARA’s motion, and Appx., Vol. 

5, 1055;16-21, transcript of hearings. 

Third, SAHARA contends that “ … [POOLE] did not inquire further 

as to the accident and only made his own assumptions...”   AB:21. 

Notwithstanding that under the NDTPA, vis-à-vis NRS 598.0923(2), that it 

was statutorily incumbent on SAHARA to affirmatively disclose all known 

material facts to POOLE involving the CPO vehicle (which would have 

included the ACE),  SAHARA’s contention is bewildering given what POOLE 

set forth in his separate statement via his declaration.  Prior to signing the 

purchase documents, POOLE and SAHARA’s salesperson, Travis Spruell, 

took the vehicle on a test drive. During the test drive, Mr. Spruell told POOLE 

that the vehicle was in a previous “minor” accident. Sep. Stmt. # 61, Vol. 2, 

Appx. 326; Decl. of POOLE ¶ 2, Vol 2, Appx. 282.   

In response, POOLE specifically inquired about the pre-purchase 

collision after he was told by Mr. Spruell that it was only a “minor” accident. 

Mr. Spruell again reiterated that it was only a “minor” accident, that the 
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vehicle had passed SAHARA’s 125 point comprehensive inspection which is 

given to all CPO vehicles, and that if the vehicle had been in a significant 

accident, SAHARA would not be selling the vehicle to him. Sep. Stmt. # 61, 

Vol. 2, Appx., 326; Decl. of POOLE ¶ 2, Appx., Vol. 2: 282. 7 

Fourth, SAHARA contends that “POOLE … thoroughly fail[ed] to 

identify any misrepresentation that would fall into [sic] his allegations that 

[SAHARA made a false representation in a transaction”].  AB:31.   SAHARA’s 

contention is perplexing given POOLE’s separate statement and his 

declaration submitted in opposition to SAHARA’s MSJ vis-à-vis what Mr. 

Spruell’s representation that the pre-purchase collision was just “minor” 

and/or was otherwise insignificant.  Id. 

The issue of whether the representation to POOLE was “false” with 

respect to the pre-purchase collision being only “minor” in nature and/or 

otherwise not significant, when compared to a four corners reading of the 

information reflected in the ACE, (Appx. Vol. 2: 361-386), (information that 

was in SAHARA’s actual possession at time of sale), is a question of fact for

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